HISTORIC
SALEM INC

16 Cross Street

Built for

John F. Wells
Railroad Carpenter
and his wife

Maria L. Weeks

in 1876

Researched & written by
Robert Booth

September 2019

Historic Salem, Inc.

9 North Street, Salem, MA 01970
978.745.0799 | HistoricSalem.org
© 2019



Owners & Occupants
16 Cross Street, Salem

By Robert Booth, Sept. 2019

According to available evidence, this house was built for John F. Wells,

railroad carpenter, and wife Maria L. Weeks, as their family residence in
1876.

On 2 Oct. 1876 Mrs. Hannah B. Cornelius for $800 sold to John F.
Wells a lot of land running n.e. 57° 2, s.e. 52’ 6” by land of the grantor,
s.w. 57° 9” by Cross Street, and n.w. 53’ 2” by Saunders Street (ED
961:108). The lot had been sold as part of a larger lot in 1864 to Mrs.
Cornelius; at that time Cross Street was known as Short Street; in 1846
that same double lot had been sold to Alonzo Cornelius (ED 663:104,
371:122). Mr. Wells immediately took out a city permit to have this
house built: two stories, wood, pitched roof, footprint 18° by 38°, corner
of Saunders and Cross (this and other such historic building permits,
available in 2011 at the time of the “Form B” submitted to the Mass.
Historical Commission, cannot now be found at the Salem city offices,
per inquiry by Robert Booth).

John F. Wells had come from Portland, Maine, to Salem, as early as
1874, evidently in connection with the work he did as a car-builder for
the railroad. The large Eastern Rail Road car shop and grounds, where
the railroad cars were built, was situated on Bridge Street. He was then
(1874) residing at 19 Mall Street, Salem, off the Common (per Salem
Directory)

Wells was a native of Maine. In 1860 (per census, house 915, Portland),
John F. Wells, 22, was a bachelor railroad employee in Portland living at
the family home with his father Samuel, also a “railroad employee,” and
stepmother Mary, and his younger siblings Samuel, Ellen, and Sarah.
John married Maria Louise Weeks; on Oct. 1, 1865, the couple had a
child, Elizabeth, nicknamed “Birdie.” In 1870 John, a carpenter, was
listed with his family at Portland by the census-taker (house 371). Maria
L. (Weeks) Wells was born in Portland in 1840, the youngest sister of 10
siblings, six boys and four girls.

The Salem to which the Wellses came c. 1874 was completing its
transition from a seaport to a center of manufacturing and transportation.
In 1870 Salem received its last cargo from Zanzibar. By then, a new
Salem & New York freight steamboat line was in operation. Seven years



later, with the arrival of a vessel from Cayenne, Salem’s foreign trade
came to an end. After that, “the merchandise warehouses on the wharves
no longer contained silks from India, tea from China, pepper from
Sumatra, coffee from Arabia, spices from Batavia, gum-copal from
Zanzibar, hides from Africa, and the various other products of far-away
countries. The boys have ceased to watch on the Neck for the incoming
vessels, hoping to earn a reward by being the first to announce to the
expectant merchant the safe return of his looked-for vessel. The foreign
commerce of Salem, once her pride and glory, has spread its white
wings and sailed away forever” (Rev. George Bachelder in History of
Essex County, 11: 65).

John F. Wells (1838-1918), son of Samuel Wells of Portland, Maine,
died in Boston on Aug. 1, 1918 (buried Evergreen Cemetery, Portland,
Maine). He m. Maria Louisa Weeks (1840-1920), dtr. of Joshua F.
Weeks (1793-1875) & Elizabeth Ingersoll Mitchell (1795-1883). Known
issue:

1. Elizabeth I. M. (“Birdie”), 1866, d. 1 May 1883.

2 , died young.

3. Ada L., 1878, pianist, teacher, m. (Boston) 21 Nov. 1900 Oscar

B. Gilmore, bookkeeper.

Salem continued to prosper in the 1870s, carried forward by the leather-
making business. In 1874 the city was visited by a tornado and shaken
by a minor earthquake. In the following year, the large new
Pennsylvania Pier (site of the present coal-fired harborside electrical
generating plant) began receiving large shipments of coal, most of it
shipped by rail to the factories on the Merrimack. In the neck of land
beyond the Pier, a new owner began subdividing the old Allen farmlands
into a development called Salem Willows and Juniper Point. In the U. S.
centennial year, 1876, A. G. Bell, with his laboratory in Salem,
announced that he had discovered a way to transmit voices over
telegraph wires.

In this decade, large numbers of French-Canadian families came to work
in Salem’s mills and factories, and more houses and tenements were
built. The better-off workers bought portions of older houses or built
small homes for their families in the outlying sections of the city; and by
1879 the Naumkeag Steam Cotton mills would employ 1500 people
(including hundreds of children) and produce annually nearly 15 million
yards of cloth. Shoe-manufacturing businesses expanded in the 1870s,
and 40 shoe factories were employing 600-plus operatives. Tanning, in
both Salem and Peabody, remained a very important industry, and
employed hundreds of breadwinners. On Boston Street in 1879, the
Arnold tannery caught fire and burned down.



In the 1880s, Salem kept building infrastructure; and new businesses
arose, and established businesses expanded. Retail stores prospered;
horse-drawn trolleys ran every which-way; and machinists, carpenters,
millwrights, and other specialists all thrived. In 1880, Salem’s
manufactured goods were valued at about $8.4 million, of which leather
accounted for nearly half.

Per the records of the 1880 census-taker (house 179) the occupants of
this house were John F. Wells, 42, working as a carpenter, wife Maria
L., 39, and daughters Elizabeth, 13 (she had a case of measles at the
time) and Ada L. two. By 1882 he had become a car inspector for the
Eastern Rail Road and was working in East Boston (see 1882-3 Salem
Directory).

On 1 May 1883, Birdie (Elizabeth) Wells died of hepatitis at the age of
16 years, 7 months. One can only imagine the grief of her parents and
younger sister Ada, five.

In April, 1886, Mr. Wells sold the homestead to William F. Fischer, of
Salem; the bounds recited in the deed were the same as those in the 1876
conveyance (ED 1171:285).

The Wellses left Salem and did not return. They moved to Boston, where
John would remain a railroad car inspector. Between 1900 and 1910
they would move to Melrose (see 1910 census), where they may have
remained. Mr. Wells would die on Aug. 1, 1918, aged 80 years; his
widow, Maria, survived him and would die in 1920.

The new owner, William F. Fischer, a Civil War vet, was married and a
father. He earned his living as a tailor.

Born in Stuttgart, Germany, in 1835, probably christened Wilhelm,
William was the son of Georg Fischer and Fredericka Muller. He and his
parents came to Salem between 1856 and 1858; and William was a
Salem tailor when, on Oct. 1, 1861, he enlisted in the 23" Mass. Infantry
Regiment as a private, assigned to Company F. He was promoted to
corporal, and was mustered out Oct. 13, 1864. In 1890 he would get a
pension from the government. The 23™ was a Salem regiment, known as
“Whipple’s Jewels,” and has a memorial at the head of Winter Street,
near the Common.

As a brave soldier on a three-year enlistment, and a member of
Company F, Mr. Fischer “took part in all the battles of the regiment”
(per obituary, Salem Evening News). The 23rd first fought at Roanoke
Island, NC, in February, 1862, and next month was engaged at New



Berne, NC, a bloody conflict where Lt. Col. Henry Merritt of Salem was
killed. They would fight in seven more battles that year. Early in 1863
the men sought the enemy around Charleston, SC; and they ended the
year at Newport News, without having seen combat. They took a
steamer to Portsmouth, Virginia, early in 1864—William was promoted
to corporal in January—and in April, as part of the Star Brigade, under
General Hackman, they fought at Smithfield, taking casualties. On May
16, at Drury’s Bluff, the Brigade was outflanked in the fog and in the
battle had 23 men killed and 51 taken prisoner, including General
Heckman. In June, 1864, at Cold Harbor, Virginia, they fought under
Gen. U. S. Grant. The well-entrenched Rebels slaughtered the Union
soldiers, thrown against them in futile charges. At night William’s tent
was pierced by three bullets, and in action he was hit in the back by a
flat piece of a spent shell (per obituary). After fighting in minor actions
through the summer, Corporal Fischer was at the end of his enlistment
and was released from service in September, 1864, just before the
regiment was hit with an epidemic of yellow fever. How happy he must
have been to get home!

He resumed his career as a tailor. In September 9, 1867, in Salem,
William Fischer, 31, married Mary Philoma Ryan, 25, the daughter of
John & Catherine Ryan and a native of North Whitefield, Maine. He
opened a merchant tailor’s shop at 218 Essex Street, selling fabrics and
tailoring clothes; and he would conduct this business until just six
months before his death in 1910 (per obituary).

William Frederick Fischer (1835-1910), born 5 Oct. 1835, Stuttgart,
Germany, son of George Fischer & Fredericka Muller, died 28 Aug.
1910. He m. 9 Sept. 1867 Mary Philoma Ryan (1838-1910), b. February,
1838, dir. of John & Catherine Ryan of N. Whitefield, Maine; died 25
May 1910 (buried Greenlawn Cemetery with husband). Known issue:

1. George Francis, 1868-1908, m. 1896 Helen T. Short; had issue.

2. , died young.

3. Annie Martina, Nov. 1880, died 1935 at Andover.

4. Gertrude, Oct. 1882, m. Albert Curtis; died 1944.

By the mid-1880s, after the Fischers moved in here at #16, Salem was a
robust manufacturing city, with thousands of people in need of tailoring
services—so presumably William did not lack for customers. The
Naumkeag Steam Cotton Company mills at the Point employed 1400
people producing 19 million yards of cotton cloth annually, worth about
$1.5 million. The city’s large shoe factories stood downtown behind the
Railroad Depot and on Dodge and Lafayette Streets. A jute bagging
company prospered with plants on Skerry and English Streets; its



products went south to be used in cotton-baling. Salem factories also
produced lead, paint, and oil. At the Eastern Rail Road yard on Bridge
Street, cars were repaired and built new.

In July, 1886, the city was roiled by a massive strike against the leather
factory owners in Salem and Peabody. For several months, thousands of
workers followed the leadership of the national Knights of Labor,
remaining off the job and holding out for a ten-hour day and other
concessions; but the manufacturers imported men to do the work, some
from Maine and Canada, and kept going. The Knights paid the striking
workers at first, but eventually ran out of money; and by October and
November the cold weather was causing a problem for street-level
strikers who had families to feed and keep warm at home. Violence was
common: blood flowed, and bones were broken. One man died. The
strikers finally lost, and many of them lost their jobs and their homes.

In 1887 the Salem streets were first lit with electricity, replacing gas-
light. The gas works would move from Northey Street to a larger site on
Bridge Street in 1888, opposite the Beverly Shore.

The Fischers’ son, George F., got a job as a salesman for the National
Lead Company, headquartered in Boston, for whom he worked his
whole life (per obituary). He was an amateur actor, and in March, 1891,
appeared in the farce, “A Box of Monkeys” (per “The Visitor,” 11
March 1891, p. 191). He evidently went to work in Manhattan, where he
met Helen T. Short, 25, a native of Brunswick, NJ. In June, 1896, they
were married; and by 1897 they resided at 15% Cross Street, across from
his parents and sisters.

More factories and more people required more space for buildings, more
roads, and more storage areas. This space was created by filling in
rivers, harbors, and ponds. The once-broad North River was filled from
both shores, and became a canal along Bridge Street above the North
Bridge. The large and beautiful Mill Pond, which occupied the whole
area between the present Jefferson Avenue, Canal Street, and Loring
Avenue, finally vanished beneath streets, storage areas, junk-yards, rail-
yards, and parking lots. The South River, too, with its epicenter at
Central Street (the Custom House had opened there in 1805) disappeared
under the pavement of Riley Plaza and New Derby Street, and some of
its old wharves were joined together with much in-fill and turned into
coal0-yards and lumber-yards. Only a canal was left, running in from
Derby and Central Wharves to Lafayette Street.

In 1900 William Fischer, 63, who had his tailor shop at 218 Essex, lived
here (#16) with wife Mary, 62, and daughters Annie, twenty, who did
not work, and Gertrude, 18, a stenographer at the lead company where



her older brother, George, worked as a salesman. George, 31, then
resided nearby at #2 Saunders with wife Helen, 31, and their children W.
Frederick, 2, and Mary, 1 (per census). The George Fischer family
moved to 28”2 Gardner Street. In November, 1908, after a couple of
weeks of headaches, George, 39, died on the 21% of a cerebral
hemorrhage, leaving his wife and children.

Salem kept growing. The Canadians were followed in the early 20™
century by large numbers of Polish and Ukrainian families moving into
the Derby Street neighborhood, and by Sicilians, in the High Street
neighborhood.

William F. Fischer made hislast will on June 18, 1910, giving all of his
property to his daughter Annie M. Fischer, unless she should marry, in
which case it was to go in thirds to her, her sister Gertrude, and the
children of their deceased brother George. After Annie’s death, the
property was to go to the others named. William died in his 75 year, on
August 28, 1910, after a short illness, mainly of prostate cancer. He left
his wife Mary and two adult children. His daughter-in-law Helen,
widowed, and her children had moved to then-328 Lafayette Street. But
soon, evidently, they would move into #16.

George Francis Fischer, 1868-1908 (died 21 Nov. 1908), m. 1896 Helen
T. Short, 1868-1948? (evidently died Swampscott, 29 March 1948).
Known issue:
1. William Frederick, 1898, m. Mary E. >
2. Mary F., 1899, m. Rufus H. Knight of Marblehead.
3. Karl, 1902, a bachelor.

By the eve of World War One, the bustling, polyglot city supported
large department stores and factories of every description. People from
the surrounding towns, and Marblehead in particular, came to Salem to
do their shopping; and its handsome government buildings, as befit the
county seat, were busy with conveyances of land, lawsuits, and probate
proceedings. The city’s politics were lively, and its economy was strong.

On June 25, 1914, in the morning, in Blubber Hollow (Boston Street at
Proctor), a fire started in small wooden shoe factory. This fire soon
raced out of control, for the west wind was high and the season had been
dry. Out of Blubber Hollow the fire roared easterly, a monstrous front of
flame and smoke, wiping out the houses of Boston Street, Essex Street,
and upper Broad Street, and then sweeping through Hathorne, Winthrop,
Endicott, and other residential streets. Men and machines could not stop
it: the enormous fire crossed over into South Salem and destroyed the
neighborhoods west of Lafayette Street, then devoured the mansions of
Lafayette Street itself, and raged onward into the tenement district of



The Point. Despite the combined efforts of heroic fire crews from many
towns and cities, the fire overwhelmed everything in its path: the
Naumkeag Steam Cotton Company factory complex exploded in an
inferno. At Derby Street, just beyond Union, after a 13-hour rampage,
the monster died, having consumed 250 acres, 1600 houses, and 41
factories, and leaving three dead and thousands homeless. Some people
had insurance, some did not; all received much support and generous
donations from all over the country and the world. It was one of the
greatest urban disasters in the history of the United States, and the
people of Salem would take years to recover from it. Eventually, they
did, and many of the former houses and businesses were rebuilt; and
they undertook several urban-renewal projects (including Hawthorne
Boulevard, where old houses were removed and streets widened).

In 1920, #16 Cross was occupied by the widow Helen T. Fischer, 46,
and her children W. Frederick, 22, a bank auditor, Mary, 20, a bank
clerk, and Karl, 18, the office manager of a lead company (1920 census,
house 83). Their aunts (co-owners) lived in Andover: Annie M. Fischer
and Gertrude, wife of Albert Curtis, who worked at a lead works. The
sisters lived out their lives in' Andover.

In December, 1924, electricians began wiring the house, evidently for
the first time (ED 2626:99).

Salem was once again a thriving city; and its tercentenary in 1926 was a
time of great celebration. The Depression hit in 1929, and continued
through the 1930s. Salem, the county seat and regional retail center,
gradually rebounded.

In 1930 (per census) this house (#16) was the home of the widow Helen
T. (Short) Fischer, 59, and sons William F., 32, assistant manager of a
lead works, and Karl, 28, manager of the same. Evidently they had taken
over the lead works with which their father had been associated.

In May, 1942, the Fischers sold the property to Richard L. & wife
Margaret A. Freyman (ED 3293:270).

Salem prospered after World War II through the 1950s and into the
1960s. General Electric, Sylvania, Parker Brothers, Pequot Mills
(formerly Naumkeag Steam Cotton Co.), Almy’s and Newmark’s and
Webber’s department stores, various other retailers, and Beverly’s
United Shoe Machinery Company were all major local employers.

In April. 1946, the Freymans sold the premises to Thomas M & James J.
Kelly (ED 3457:418). In Oct. 1963 Kelly sold to Stanley & Shirley Mikulski
(ED 5114:513). In March 1964 Mikulski sold to Aleksy & Marie Skomurski



(ED 5158:253). In September 1997 Skomurski sold to Skomurski Family
Trust (ED 16873:263). Since then: July 2004 Skomurski to Jukka P. Heikka
and to Colleen F. Woods; Feb. 2012 Heikka and Woods to Michael Phillips
& Cynthia Glennon.



Glossary & Sources

A figure like (ED 123:45) refers to book 123, page 45, Essex South Registry of Deeds.

A figure like (#12345) refers to Essex Probate case 12345, on file at the Essex Probate
Court, or on microfilm at Mass. Archives, Boston, or at the Peabody Essex Museum’s
Phillips Library, Rowley.

MSSRW refers to the multi-volume compendium, Mass. Soldiers & Sailors in the
Revolutionary War, at the Salem Public Library among other places.

MSSCRW refers to the multi-volume compendium, Mass. Soldiers, Sailors, & Marines
in the Civil War, at the Salem Public Library among other places.

EIHC refers to the Essex Institute Historical Collections (discontinued), a multi-volume
set (first volume published in 1859) of data and articles about Essex County. The

indices of the ETHC have been consulted regarding many of the people associated with
this house.

The six-volume published Salem Vital Records (marriages, births, and deaths through
1849) have been consulted, and the Salem Directory and later Naumkeag Directory,
with data about residents and their addresses, etc.

Sidney Perley’s three-volume History of Salem, 1626-1716, has been consulted, as has
the four-volume William Bentley’s Diary, J. Duncan Phillips’ books, some newspapers,
and other sources.

Salem real estate valuations, and, where applicable, Salem Street Books, have also been
consulted, as have genealogies.

There is much more material available about Salem and its history; and the reader is
encouraged to make his or her own discoveries.

--Robert Booth
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................. hmmmmamem e em e maeE e m e, ———————————————— |
’Ne, Gertrude F. Curtis, widow, of Andover, Rufus H. Knight and Nery F.

.Knlght,'hls wife, in her right, both of Marblehead, Karl Fischer, being
‘unmerried, of Swampscott, all in Essex County, Massachusetts, and William!
|F. Fischer, of St. Johnsbury, Vermont for considoration. peid, gramt to

Richard 1. Preyman and Margaret A. Freyman, his wife, and to the survivor
of them as tenants by the entirsty, both of Salem, Essex County, Massachus
getts with QUITCLAIM COVERANTS i,lrua land in said SALEM with the buildings
thereon bounded and described a} follows: Beginning on Saunders Street ati
a point 53 feet 2 inches from C'oss Street, thence turning and running

Northeasterly 57 feet 2 inches; thence turning and running Southeusterly
by land now or late of Corneliut 52 feet & inches; thence turning and runl

ning Southwesterly by Cross Striet 57 feet 9 inches to Saunders Sireet;
thence turning end running by qunders Street 53 feet 2 inches to the poxnt
.of beginning. Sea deed to W1111tm ¥. Fischer from John F, Wells dated Aprxl
'96, 1686 end recorded in the Es;ex South Distriet Registry of Deeds, Book’
1171, Page 888, the said Gertruib F, Curtis being the daughter of the saxé
William F. Fischer and the said, Mary F. Knight, Karl Fischer and William
¥, Fischer being the grandchildisn of the said Williem F. Fischer, decensed.
Also see probste on Annie M. Fischer, deceased. Subject to the taxes for
the year 1942 which are to be ef portioned. I, Mary E. Fischer, wife of
said William ¥, Fischer release io said grantee gll rights of dower and
honestead and other interessts tﬁ}rein. WITRESS our hands end common seal

this 14th day of May 1942. 5 Karl Fischer {seal)

. THE COMMONWEALTH ) ! Rufus H. Knight

OF MASSACHUSETTS ) Williem ¥. Fischer

'Essex ss. May 14, ) : Gertrude F. Curtis

|1942 Then person- ) Mery F. Knight |
ally appeared the ) ! Mery E. Fischer |

above named Karl Fiacher and ack owledged the foregoing instrument to be |

his free act and deed, before me _Esthar M. Murphy Notary Publie
My commissish expires June 5, 1942,

Essex 88. Received May 15, 1942, 59 m. past 11 A.M, Recorded and Examined‘
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'AVENTORY FORM B CONTINUATION SHEET SALEM 16 CROSS STREET

MASSACHUSETTS HISTORICAL COMMISSION Area(s) Form No.
'/ 220 MORRISSEY BOULEVARD, BOSTON, MASSACHUSETTS 02125

| ELIV [ sAL2883 |

[[] Recommended for listing in the National Register of Historic Places.
If checked, you must attach a completed National Register Criteria Statement form.

ARCHITECTURAL DESCRIPTION:

Describe architectural features. Evaluate the characteristics of this building in terms of other buildings within the community.

Located at the northwest corner of Cross Street and Saunders Street, 16 Cross Street is a 2 Ye-story dwelling with a cross gable
plan. It rests on a brick foundation and is sheathed in wood shingles which do not appear to be original and may obscure
cornerboards. The overhanging eaves end in cornice returns and are decorated by wooden brackets with pairs of brackets at
the top of where there were once cornerboards. The rectangular window openings contain modern replacement 1/1 sash. The
attic opening in the gable-front has a slightly curved cap. At the rear of the south elevation there is a second story, three-sided
oriel window. The entry to the building is through the single-story enclosed porch at the junction of the two gables. It is also
shingled with decorative brackets and rests on a brick foundation.

This house has seen only minimal alteration since its construction in the later 19" century. Itis a contributing property in the
Bridge Street Neck Historic District, listed on the National Register on July 19, 2002.

HISTORICAL NARRATIVE

Discuss the history of the building. Explain its associations with local (or state) history. Include uses of the building, and the role(s) the
owners/occupants played within the community.

There is no building on this site at the time of the 1874 map; the vacant lot was then owned by E. Woodbury. According to City
Records on October 23, 1876 John F. Wells was granted a building permit to construct this two-story, wooden dwelling with
pitched roof, measuring 18’ x 38’, at the corner of Cross and Saunders Streets. The first directory listing found for the address
indicates that John F. Wells was living here in 1878. He was a carpenter for the Eastern Railroad Car Shop. The 1880 Census
shows Wells was then 42 years old, living with his wife Maria and two daughters, one of whom had measles. By 1888 the house
had been purchased by William Fischer. Fischer had emigrated from Germany in the 1850s and worked as a tailor. In 1900 he
was 63 years old, living with his wife Mary and two daughters, Annie and Gertrude. Fischer is still shown as the owner on the
1911 map. By 1920 the house was occupied by his widow Helen and their three children. In 1930 Helen Fischer was still living
here with her sons William and Karl, both of whom worked at the lead works. The property was sold by the Fischer family in
1942. Thomas Kelly owned by the house from 1946 to 1963. It was purchased by Marie Skomurski in 1964.

BIBLIOGRAPHY and/or REFERENCES

Essex County Registry of Deeds, Salem, Massachusetts.

Hopkins, G.M. Atlas of Salem, Massachusetts. Philadelphia: 1874.

Mcintyre, Henry, C.E. Map of the City of Salem. Philadelphia: 1851.

Richards, L.J. Aflas of the City of Salem, Massachusetts. 1897.

Salem Directories, various dates.

U.S. Census, 1830-1930.

Walker Lithograph and Publishing Company. Atlas of the City of Salem, Massachusetts. Boston: 1911.
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